### IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2012

# Development and examination of pop-top can openers and how they improve accessibility for an aging population

Zachary Scott Sobczak *Iowa State University* 

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd Part of the Industrial and Product Design Commons, and the Industrial Engineering Commons

#### **Recommended** Citation

Sobczak, Zachary Scott, "Development and examination of pop-top can openers and how they improve accessibility for an aging population" (2012). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 12470. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/12470

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



# Development and examination of pop-top can openers and how they improve accessibility for an aging population

By

Zach Sobczak

A thesis submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major: Industrial Engineering

Program of Study Committee: Richard Stone, Major Professor Gary Mirka Jason Gillette

Iowa State University

Ames, IA

2012



### Contents

List of Figures iv
List of Tables v
Acknowledgementsvi
Abstract vii
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
1.1 Pinch grip and pain sensing in the elderly 1
1.2 Design of consumer packaging
1.3 Can opener designs
1.4 Hypothesis
Chapter 2: Methodology7
2.1 Development of locking opener device
2.2 Participants
2.3 Variables
2.4 Experimental design 10
2.1 Analysis
Chapter 3: Results 15
3.1 Overall opening preference
3.2 Overall pain experienced



3.3 Overall correlation analysis
3.4 Overall analysis of variance
3.5 Trial specific correlation analysis
3.6 Summary of verbal feedback
3.7 Broken tabs
Chapter 4: Discussion 30
4.1 Overall opening performance
4.2 Overall correlation of objective and subjective data
4.3 Trial specific correlation analysis
4.4 Comparison of younger and older participant group preferences
Chapter 5: Conclusion
5.1 Limitations
5.2 Future work
Chapter 6: References



### List of Figures

Figure 1.1: Rounded tab
Figure 1.2: Flat tab
Figure 1.3: Lifting ring pull
Figure 1.4: Peeling back ring pull and lid4
Figure 1.5: J-Popper
Figure 2.1: Locking opener handle
Figure 2.2: Locking mechanism with incline
Figure 2.3: T-Handle attachment
Figure 2.4: Extensor digitorum EMG sensor placement 10
Figure 2.5: Flexor carpi EMG sensor placement 11
Figure 2.6: Bend sensor setup 11
Figure 3.1: Preference ranks based on opening style and age group
Figure 3.2: Preference ranking based on can style 17
Figure 3.3: Least painful opening method rankings 19
Figure 3.4: Least pain ranking by can style



### List of Tables

Table 3.1: Summed preference ranking score	. 18
Table 3.2: Least painful ranking scores	21
Table 3.3: Summary of correlations between variables	22
Table 3.4: Data summary grouped by opening style	23
Table 3.5: Data summary grouped by age	25
Table 3.6: Average percent of MVC in extensor digitorum based on opening style	26
Table 3.7: Muscle exertion based on age	26
Table 3.8: Correlated pairs found in young and old participants	27
Table 3.9: Verbal feedback summary	28



### Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to thank everyone who contributed to this thesis writing in any way. I am especially grateful for those who went above and beyond to help me get where I am today.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my fiancée Amanda who provided endless love and support throughout the entire process. For always standing by my side, occasionally being my guinea pig, and making those late night coffee and food runs, I thank you.

This thesis would not have been possible without the guidance and support of my major professor, Dr. Richard Stone. Without your help, none of this would have happened.

I am indebted to the many professors and staff who shared their knowledge along the way. Dr. Gary Mirka and Dr. Jason Gillette for all the wisdom and service provided as committee members. Thank you to Dr. Max Morris for your help with my statistical analysis. Most of all, Mr. Kevin Brownfield for helping turn my crazy idea into a working can opener.

I am grateful for my best friend Ms. Chelsea Tomek for helping proofread and sending me endless words of encouragement and inspiration.

Most of all, I thank my parents Karen and Gregory Sobczak. You have always believed in me and because of your love and support, I am able to accomplish all of my dreams. I dedicate this thesis to you.



### Abstract

The primary function of consumer packaging, specifically pop top cans, is to protect the contents of the container and ensure it is safe and functional for the buyer to use. As packaging has evolved, greater focus is placed on increasing the convenience of products. Pop-top cans are simpler to use because they do not require tools but bring inherent problems with opening primarily for the older population. The development of different opening devices aims to improve accessibility for the older population by reducing the frustrations and discomforts associated with this style of packaging. A study of 24 individuals, showed different preferences in opening methods between older and younger individuals. Furthermore, determining time to open, EMG muscle activation, and wrist angle revealed that some objective measures related the subjective preferences. Younger individuals believed that the increased convenience of a pop top, greatly outweighed any pain they had to endure. The elderly however, preferred to use a simple opening device to transfer the movement away from the fingers to the wrist. Because of the reduction of precision movements, the elderly preferred to use the J-popper opening device. The difference in preferred opening methods between age groups shows that packaging designers must consider the needs of all members of the population when designing products to insure accessibility to all consumers.



### Chapter 1:

### Introduction

### 1.1 Pinch grip and pain sensing in the elderly

The degradation of human physical ability with age has been well-documented. Two types of deterioration that are especially trying are a reduction of pinch grip strength and an increase in pain sensitivity. Pinch grip strength involves the ability to grasp objects between the thumb and distal ends of the fingers.<sup>1</sup> Pain sensitivity is the perceived pain experienced and tolerance threshold of an individual given a stimulus.<sup>2</sup> The reduction of strength and increase in sensitivity can make it difficult for otherwise healthy elderly individuals to perform everyday tasks.

Over time, muscle fibers break down, reducing the strength capabilities of the muscles. A 42% decrease in grip strength was documented in the research of Viitasalo et al. between the youngest and oldest group of participants.<sup>3</sup> Furthermore, there is a decrease in active motor units, defined as the motoneuron and the connected muscle fibers, which reduces the ability for muscle fibers to activate. As a result, strength is further reduced.<sup>4</sup>

Beyond to the degeneration of muscle strength, the orientation of the hand and wrist can greatly affect pinch grip. When the wrist is at extreme angles, the force produced by the hand can be reduced by as much as 60% from the maximum capabilities.<sup>5</sup> Furthermore, there is a reduction in the wrist range of motion for an elderly person. A study of workers in Taiwan indicated a reduction in range of motion of about 20% between the oldest and youngest age group.<sup>6</sup> This reduced range results in lower extreme angles, creating a more restricted range for optimal grip strength.

In addition to the reduction in strength, the threshold of pressure pain tolerance also decreases with age. A study by Lautenbacher et al. showed that pressure pain sensitivity in the fingers of the elderly increases with age.<sup>7</sup> Consequently, everyday tasks that provide minor discomfort in younger individuals can lead to almost unbearable pain in the elderly. However, the type of stimulus and the duration also affects the pain sensitivity in the elderly.



For shorter durations, the elderly are found to have higher tolerances to pain then younger individuals.<sup>8</sup> As a result, many assistive technologies aid the elderly in these ordinary tasks by maintaining or improving their quality of life through their advanced years.

### **1.2 Design of consumer packaging**

It is widely accepted that advances in healthcare lead to an increase in life expectancy, resulting in an aging population. The aging population with diminished physical abilities requires greater consideration in the design of products. One major area of opportunity is consumer packaging, especially for grocery products. Packaging in food manufacturing serves four main functions: to contain, protect, convenience, and communicate.<sup>9</sup> The primary focus in food packaging has long been to protect the contents of the packaging. Changes in society have resulted in a shift of this focus. In the fast-paced Western culture, there is an increased demand for food products that provide greater convenience for the consumer. As a result, many advances in consumer packaging have focused on reducing the kitchen accessories required by making the product easier to open.<sup>10</sup> Some examples of this include the evolution of microwavable containers for frozen entrees, development of cost-effective oven-safe containers for packaging, and the utilization of a ring pull on canned goods.

Despite the major advances in convenience for opening and preparing food products, accessibility is often an afterthought in the design process. A New Zealand survey of elderly consumers found that a majority of participants had problems opening many different kinds of packaging.<sup>11</sup> Additionally, a study aimed to increase the accessibility of consumer packaging found that a large percentage of young adults cannot comfortably apply the necessary forces to open packaging; specifically glass jars.<sup>12</sup> Many research studies have focused on the problem of opening glass jars, but neglect more modern packaging techniques. Contemporary packaging utilizes plastic films and ring pull cans which are easily disposable. Conversely, they create much smaller grips, requiring high forces exerted by smaller muscles.

In the consumer packaging survey by Duizer et al, ring pull cans were identified as a highly problematic style of packaging for the aging population.<sup>13</sup> The most common issue



listed was that the small size of the ring pull made it difficult to get under and pull back because of the finite grip required. As a result, the design of the ring pull has evolved into new shapes and sizes. The two most common designs are the tab with the small, rounded shape on the lifting end (see Figure 1.1) or the larger tab with a flat edge on the lifting end (found in Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.1: Rounded tab



Figure 1.2: Flat tab



There are two main steps involved in opening a ring pull can. The first step is lifting the tab to break the initial seal (see Figure 1.3) of the can and provide a handle for pulling the lid back. A preliminary study by the authors indicated that this first step is difficult because of the small space between the tabs and can lids preventing easy lifting. Once the tab is raised, the next step is to peel the lib back across the can by the tab to remove it from the can (see Figure 1.4). This step is difficult because the size of the pulls require a pinch grip. Furthermore, there is a danger from sharp edges of the lid cutting the user. Finally, when removing the lid from the can completely, there is a tension created in the metal that causes the lid to spring back when released often resulting in a small amount of the can contents splashing out.



Figure 1.3: Lifting ring pull



Figure 1.4: Peeling back ring pull and lid



### 1.3 Can opener designs

To combat the issues associated with ring pull style can, various opener designs have appeared on the market. The first of these designs is a device called the J-popper, made by Brix Design in Stege, Denmark and shown in Figure 1.5. The J-popper utilizes a thin edge to get under the tab of the can. The user then rocks the device back across the lid, pulling on the tab and peeling back the top of the can. The simple design appears to address the main issues indicated by creating a larger extension of the tab for lifting and pulling.



Figure 1.5: J-Popper

### **1.4 Hypothesis**

As of today, no scientific study examines the physical ergonomics of ring pull cans and the assistive openers currently available for them. For this purpose, the authors developed a can opener that attempts to exploit physiological advantages, such as improving hand grip and moving exertion to larger muscle groups. The device tries to create greater ease in opening ring pull cans especially in the elderly population.



It is hypothesized that the mechanical advantage created with opening-devices will reduce the discomfort experienced when opening ring pull cans. The mechanical devices will reduce the movement of the wrist as well as decrease the muscle exertion resulting in a subjective preference toward the device. Furthermore, between older and younger individuals, there is a difference in tool preference based on the specific needs of the two groups. Older individuals will prefer to use an opening device to reduce pain while younger individuals will endure the discomfort of not using an opener because of the added convenience.



# Chapter 2: Methodology

### 2.1 Development of locking opener device

Many researchers have explored different grip designs for tools.<sup>14,15</sup> The continued work of ergonomists tries to apply this research to many everyday tools. These concepts were applied to the design of this opener, aiming to move muscle exertions from the small muscles of the hand to the larger muscles of the arm as stated in the second hypothesis. The grip of the tool featured a rounded handle, removing the need for a pinch grip or any pressure on the fingers. The handle shape can be seen in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Locking opener handle

Furthermore, one of the major problems with the openers currently available on the market is they do not lock onto the tab, allowing the lid to fly off the can, resulting in a mess and increased potential for injury on the sharp edges of the lid. As a result, this opener features a lock mechanism (see Figure 2.2) for the tab creating greater control and reduced risk of injury.

Additionally, preliminary indications showed that initially lifting the tab is an issue for many individuals. Therefore, the locking mechanism also features an incline to easily get under the tab and break the seal of the can (see Figure 2.2). This reduces pain on the fingertips leading to a subjective preference toward using the device. The incline is made of aluminum to allow a thin edge to get under the tab and the strength for repeated use of the opener. In addition, the aluminum provides weight at the end of the opener to improve stability. The weighted end helps to counter essential tremor, which is common condition in individuals over 65.<sup>16</sup>



7



Figure 2.2: Locking mechanism with incline

Finally, the handle is attached to the base in a "T" fashion, seen in Figure 2.3, to encourage use of the muscles in the arm rather than the hand when opening. The length of the handle provides a small amount of leverage for lifting the tab, but is still short enough to maintain control with the weighted end. The handle is made from a white plastic with a smooth finish for comfort and easy cleaning.



Figure 2.3: T-Handle attachment



#### 2.2 Participants

Twenty-four individuals participated in this study. The participants were divided into two groups. A control group consisted of twelve university students between the ages of 18 and 24. There were three males and nine females in this group. The experimental group consisted of twelve elderly individuals over the age of 65. There were five males and seven females within this group. Each participant opened three different styles of cans with three different opening methods used for each style.

### 2.3 Variables

The independent variables for this study are the different opening method for the pop-top cans and the different styles of tab and can design. Three different opening methods were used: 1) No opener, 2) J-popper, and 3) Locking opener. There were also three different designs for the cans: 1) short can with a rounded tab, 2) tall can with a rounded tab, and 3) tall can with a large flat tab.

The dependant variables are 1) surface electromyography (EMG) of muscles in lower arm, 2) wrist angle, 3) subjective pain and usability measures, and 4) time to open. The use of EMG is well-documented for illustrating the level of work being produced in a muscle group. Through a review of the literature followed by preliminary studies, it was determined that most useful muscles to follow in this study were the flexor carpi radialis and the extensor digitorum.<sup>17,18</sup> The level of exertion in these muscles was recorded in each trial to determine the level of effort required to use each opening style. Wrist angle is measured to determine the range of motion a participant traveled though when using the different methods. Methods that require less wrist movement are believed to have a subjective preference as previously stated. The pain and usability information was administered in the form of a survey. Participants would rate the level of pain experienced as well as if they felt an opener was easy to use, if it improved opening ability, and how frequently they would use the opener to uncover cans. Finally, the time to open was measured from the instant that contact was made with the tab until the lid was peeled back past <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> the distance of the diameter as this is an opening large enough to get the contents out of the can.



### 2.4 Experimental design

Participants first provide written informed consent to participate in the study. Once all of their questions are answered, triode EMG sensors were attached to the participant's dominate arm as seen in Figure 2.4 and Figure 2.5. Bend sensors connected to a Velcro strap are then attached to the arm and taped to the hand, allowing the sensors to cross the wrist. The sensors are positioned on the top of the wrist to measure flexion and extension as well as on the outside of the wrist for radial and ulnar deviations. The setup on the arm can be seen in Figure 2.6



Figure 2.4: Extensor digitorum EMG sensor placement





Figure 2.5: Flexor carpi EMG sensor placement



Figure 2.6: Bend sensor setup

All the sensors connect to a FlexComp Infinity encoder produced by Thought Technology Ltd in West Chazy, New York. The encoder records information at 2048Hz and saves it to a computer running BioGraph Infinity Software, also developed by Thought Technology. The sensors, encoder, and software have the ability to filter and rectify raw data. After being rectified, the EMG data passes through two filters: a notch filter and an IIR filter. The notch



filter removes the 60 Hz frequency noise caused by electronic devices. The data then passes through a high pass Infinite Impulse Response (IIR) filter with a cutoff of 20 Hz to remove additional artifacts from the data such as heart rate and wire movement.

Four bend sensors were also utilized and connected to the FlexiComp encoder. The bend sensors were taped in pairs back to back to increase precision in one direction. As a result, there was one sensor for each direction of movement: radial, ulnar, flexion, and extension. The sensor data is put through a linear transformation to correlate the maximum and minimum input to a 100-point scale, allowing for greater ease in data analysis.

After attaching all the sensors and confirming they function properly, maximum voluntary contractions (MVC's) are obtained. The MVC value is used to normalize the data in the trial runs to determine the level of exertion of the muscles. To obtain the MVC value for the extensor digitorum, participants are asked to stand with their arm held out in front of them and extend the wrist back as far as they can for duration of 5 seconds. Participants are then given a brief resting period, before the flexor carpi radialis MVC value was obtained. Again, individuals held the arm in front, but flexed the wrist forward as far as possible for duration of 5 seconds. After another resting period, a maximum range of motion for the bend sensors is obtained. Participants were asked to move their hand in all directions as far as they could. This information normalized the trial run data for the bend sensors.

After all the maximum output data is obtained, the participants began opening cans. Each participant used the three opening styles on each of the three cans. The order of the opening was randomized using Microsoft Excel's random number generator. After opening each can, participants are asked to rate the level of pain experienced. Using a scale from 0 to 10 with 0 being no pain and 10 being the worst possible pain, participants describe how much pain they experienced overall, in their fingers, in their wrist, and in any additional parts of the body. Likewise, participants evaluated the opening styles. They are questioned about the usability of the opener and the ease of opening the can. They can describe in detail what qualities they liked and disliked about the openers. Finally, there were asked how frequently, if at all, they would use the specific opening style again.



www.manaraa.com

Following the opening of the cans and collection of subjective survey data, the participants are asked a final set of questions. The questions were designed based on the method outlined by Flynn and Goldsmith.<sup>19</sup> Participants ranked in order what opening method they preferred, and what can style they preferred. They also ranked in order which methods and can styles are least painful to use. This concluded all of the data collection.

#### 2.1 Analysis

All of the objective data points and subjective data are entered into Microsoft Excel documents for each individual. Within these documents, all data from the EMG sensors and bend sensors are normalized. To normalize the EMG data, a highest value from the initial MVC measurement is taken. Then, an average is taken across 100 points, the 50 points before and after the highest value. This average is recorded as the MVC value that all trial EMG data points are divided by, allowing a comparison across individuals. The wrist angle data is also normalized in the same fashion using the maximum values from the range of motion trial.

Once all of the data is normalized, preliminary analysis took place. For each trial run, the maximum value, the average value, and the standard deviation of each normalized set of data were calculated. All of this information was put into a summary table, which contained the time each trial took and all of the subjective data. All of this summary data is put into JMP 9.0 statistical software created by SAS Institute, where the data can easily be organized and analyzed. Two main tactics were applied for analyzing the data. The first was an overall evaluation of the data. However, because of the way the data are categorized, the numbers lack randomness that would represent a general population. Therefore, a secondary analysis was performed that looks specifically at each identical trial for variable correlations allowing for a more accurate representation of the experimental group from the general population. A Person product-moment correlation is performed for to determine if any correlations exists between the subjective and objective data. This is similar to a study used to correlate a subjective health survey to an individual's gait cycle.<sup>20</sup> The program returns correlation coefficients as well as values for statistical significance to determine if the measurable variables are statically related. For the pairs of variables that are statistically significant, an



analysis of variance (ANOVA) is performed to determine how those variables changed in the trials. The threshold used for determining statistical significance was P<0.05. This gives insight into how the objective measures affect what people experience and prefer when dealing with consumer packaging.



## Chapter 3: Results

### 3.1 Overall opening preference

In the final survey, participants were asked to rank the opening method they most preferred. Across all participants, the J-popper was the most preferred method, receiving 11 first-place rankings and 11 second-place rankings. Using no opener was a close second, with 11 firstplace and 7 second-place rankings. However, when looking at the two groups separately, the older individuals preferred to use the J-popper with 7 first-place votes and no third-place rankings. On the contrary, the younger individuals preferred no opener with 7 first-place votes. Both groups did agree that that the least-preferred opening method was the newly designed locking opener, with only one person in each group giving it a first place vote. These results are summarized in Figure 3.1.





Figure 3.1: Preference ranks based on opening style and age group

In addition to rating the opening method, participants also rated the style of can and tab that they most preferred. Overall, the preferred opening style with the most first-place votes was the large can with a flat tab. When looking at the two sets separately, the group of younger individuals did not show any large preference of can design. The older cluster significantly preferred the flat tab and large cans in general as summarized in Figure 3.2





Figure 3.2: Preference ranking based on can style

In addition to counting the number of votes, values for each ranking were assigned and summed to determine a score for each opening method and style. First place votes received a score of 3, second received a score of 2 and third received a score of 1. These scores were summed and are shown in Table 3.1.



	None	J-popper	Locking	Large Can Flat Tab	Large Can Round Tab	Short Can Round Tab
Young	27	26	19	25	24	23
Old	26	31	15	31	23	18
Total	53	57	34	56	47	41

Table 3.1: Summed preference ranking score

### 3.2 Overall pain experienced

Similar to the ranking of opening style preference, the overall level of pain experienced with each opening method and can design was evaluated. Participants gave the highest rankings to the choice that was the least painful to use. Some individuals did not experience any pain when performing the experiment and could not rank any of the options. In this case, all choices were given a ranking of one because no pain was experienced. In terms of pain, the J-popper had the lowest pain ranking by receiving 17 first-place votes. There was not a major difference between no-opener and the locking opener in terms of pain. The pain rankings are summarized in Figure 3.3





Figure 3.3: Least painful opening method rankings

The can design rankings showed that the large can with a flat tab was the least painful design receiving, 16 first-place votes. The large can with rounded tab was second, with 14 second-place votes. Surprisingly, the young group gave this can style no first place votes. The small can received the most third place votes for pain with 11 but also received an equal number of first-place votes. These results are summarized in Figure 3.4.





Figure 3.4: Least pain ranking by can style

The pain data was also assigned a score based on the ranking. The scoring system was the same as the preference scale with a first place vote receiving a 3, second receiving a 2, and third receiving a 1. These scores were summed for each opening method and can design as shown in Table 3.2.



	None	J-popper	Locking	Large Can Flat Tab	Large Can Round Tab	Short Can Round Tab
Young	20	30	22	27	21	24
Old	27	32	25	33	27	24
Total	47	62	47	60	48	48

 Table 3.2: Least painful ranking scores

#### 3.3 Overall correlation analysis

The results from the correlation analysis showed that there is a strong positive correlation in the evaluation of opening preference. If participants found that an opening style was easy and aided their opening of the can, they were inclined to use it again. When looking at the normalized objective data, there were strong correlations between the average wrist angle and the maximum wrist angle. As a result, only the average values for wrist angle were examined. All of these correlations had a P-value below 0.05 with most falling below 0.01, indicating a strong statistical significance. This information was used to simplify the analysis by reducing the number of factors examined for potential correlations.

Significant correlations were also found between the objective and subjective data. The average extension of the wrist was negatively correlated with more than one subjective measure. Similarly, time was also an objective measures that correlated with more than one of the subjective measures. In addition, overall pain was a subjective measure that appeared to have a very strong correlation with all other subjective measures. All of these measures became the primary focus for further study. The correlation coefficients and P-values are summarized in Table 3.3.



Factor X	Factor Y	Correlation Coefficient	P-value
Overall Pain	Average Extension	-0.1683	0.0132
Finger Pain	Time	0.2081	0.0021
	Average Extension	-0.1593	0.0192
	Time	-0.4292	<0.0001
Usability of Opener Design	Average Extension	0.278	<0.0001
	Overall Pain	-0.3478	<0.0001
Improved Ability to Open	Time	-0.4014	<0.0001
Can	Average Extension	0.2452	0.0003
	Time	-0.2994	<0.0001
Use the Opener Again	Average Extension	0.33262	<0.0001
	Overall Pain	-0.1494	0.0282

When examining the older and younger groups separately, the overall pain measure no longer has a P-value below the 0.05 threshold. The measure of time and average wrist extension both remained as strong correlations with P-values well below 0.05.

### 3.4 Overall analysis of variance

The JMP software was used to perform one-way analysis of variance focused on the target variables identified in the correlation analysis. Comparing the different opening styles, there was a statistical difference for all of the variables with a P-value less than 0.0001 based largely on the high number of observations. As a result, there are large standard deviations but still a strong statistical significance. The overall pain experienced when opening the cans



had the lowest mean value for the J-popper opening style at 0.2847. The time it took to open the can also listed the J-popper as having the lowest mean value at 8.038 seconds. However, the no opener style had a very similar time to open with a mean of 8.227 seconds. The locking opener was the slowest opening style with a mean value of 16.55 seconds. The average wrist extension measurements showed the J-popper as having the highest extension amount. The normalized mean for the J-popper was 0.2459, which was much higher than the other opening styles. The values are shown for comparison in Table 3.4.

		Mean	Standard Deviation	P-value
	No Opener	1.1667	1.3890	
Pain	J-popper	0.2847	0.7498	< 0.0001
	Locking Opener	0.6458	1.1999	
	No Opener	8.2265	3.3942	
Time	J-popper	8.0381	4.4727	< 0.0001
	Locking Opener	16.5538	13.4526	
e on	No Opener	0.1394	0.0960	
verag tensic	J-popper	0.2459	0.1278	< 0.0001
A Ex	Locking Opener	0.1006	0.0964	

Table 3.4: Data summary grouped by opening style

In examining the three different can and tab styles, none of the measured variables showed any statistical significance that would prove a preference between any of the styles. In examining the verbal feedback provided, the participants preferred one design over the other



was because of the ease of getting under the tab initially. In addition, the ability to establish a firm grip on the can with the stabilizing hand played a role in choosing a preferred can design, but was not measured beyond the verbal feedback received.

In exploring the differences between the younger and older group of participants, a t-test was performed on each focused variable comparing the data from the old and young group. Using an alpha value of 0.05, there is a significant difference between the two groups in time to open and average wrist extension but not in the overall level of pain. The overall level of pain had a P-value of 0.0990, which is greater than the threshold alpha value of 0.05. The older group had the lower mean value of 0.5648 whereas the younger group experienced more pain on average with a mean value of 0.8333. The other two variables had much lower P-values, which fell below 0.01, indicating a strong significance in the difference of variance. In terms of time, the younger group was faster with a mean value of 8.457 seconds. The older group had a mean time of 13.42 seconds. Similarly, when measuring the average wrist extension, the older group also had a larger mean value of 0.1974 or 19.74% of the maximum. The younger group had a mean of 0.1266 or 12.66% of the maximum. These statistics are summarized in Table 3.5.



		Mean	Standard Deviation	P-value
in vel	Young	0.8333	1.2697	0.0990
Pai	Old	0.5648	1.1067	
ie nds)	Young	8.4567	5.5632	<0.0001
Tir (Seco	Old	13.4223	11.3770	
age	Young	0.1266	0.1087	<0.0001
Aver Exter	Old	0.1974	0.1280	

Table 3.5: Data summary grouped by age

An analysis of variance comparing the results of the EMG data collected showed that can style did not have a statistically significant effect on the level of exertion in the flexor carpi radialis and the extensor digitorum. However, when looking at the opening styles there was decrease in the average level of exertion of the extensor digitorum in the J-Popper as compared to the other two opening styles as seen in Table 3.6. This illustrates that the J-Popper reduced the level of exertion required by the muscle making the can easier to open.



	Mean	Standard Deviation	P-value
No Opener	0.2172	0.2358	
J-popper	0.1755	0.1356	0.0088
Locking Opener	0.2820	0.2335	

Table 3.6: Average percent of MVC in extensor digitorum based on opening style

Similarly, the EMG data was compared across the young and old individuals. This showed that was an increased level of exertion in the elderly of both muscles measured. Meaning that older individuals had to use the muscles more to open the can than the younger group as seen in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7: Muscle exertion based on age

		Mean	Standard Deviation	P-value
age IVC nsor rum	Young	0.1598	0.1807	<.0001
Ave % N exte digito	Old	0.2900	0.2190	
rage IVC Kor rpi ialis	Young	0.1830	0.0835	< 0.0001
Ave % N fley car	Old	0.2442	0.1384	

When examining the data group according to sex there was no statistical difference between any of the measured factors. As a result, any differences that may have occurred based on gender did not cause any measurable effect on this study.



### 3.5 Trial specific correlation analysis

There were no pairs of subjective and objective variables that correlated in all opener styles and can styles. However, some interesting correlation trends did occur in different categories. The finding that stuck out the most was that among the older population, there were no sets of variables that correlated when using the locking can opener on the short can. In addition, between the groups of older and younger participants very few objective and subjective pairs correlated in both groups. These pairs are summarized in Table 3.8.

Can and Opener Style	Factor X	Factor Y	
J-Popper	Overall Pain Rating	% Max Radial Bend	
Large Can Round Tab	Ease of use	Time	
J-Popper	Overall Pain	% Max MVC Ext. Dig.	
Small Can Round Tab	Finger Pain	Avg % MVC Ext. Dig	
Locking Opener Large Can Round Tab	Ease of use	Average % Radial Bend	

Table 3.8: Correlated pairs found in young and old participants

Some interesting correlations also occurred within the two groups. In the young group, when not using an opener there was a strong positive correlation for the overall pain experienced and the average percentage of MVC measured in the extensor digitorum muscle. Likewise, when looking at the large can with a rounded tab, there is a negative correlation between how easy to use the opener or tab is and the time it takes to open the can. This correlation was also found in the large can with rounded tab of the older participants' J-popper trial.

There were very few interesting correlation results from the older group, when comparing the use of no opener. There were opposite correlations with the flat tab with large tab and the short can with rounded tab. Individuals felt that the can and tab style had opposite effects on their ability to open the can and the maximum percentage of MVC recorded in the flaxor



carpi radialis muscle group. The flat tab had a positive correlation between the variables and the short can had a negative correlation.

### 3.6 Summary of verbal feedback

In addition to ratings provided after each trial, participants also provided open-ended feedback about the qualities they liked and disliked about the openers. The most common responses for each opening style and can style are summarized in Table 3.9.

<b>Opening Style / Can Style</b>	Qualities liked	Qualities disliked	
No Opener	<ul> <li>Convenient</li> <li>Fast</li> <li>No additional tools required</li> </ul>	<ul><li>Hard to get under tabs</li><li>Fear of cutting hand</li></ul>	
J-popper	<ul> <li>Simple</li> <li>Gets under tab</li> <li>Fast</li> <li>Fits into drawer easy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lid flies off</li> <li>Messy</li> <li>Have to go get opener to use it</li> </ul>	
Locking Opener	Locks onto lid	<ul> <li>Awkward</li> <li>Not intuitive</li> <li>Hard to hold can with opposite hand</li> <li>Cannot get good leverage</li> </ul>	
Large Can With Flat Tab	<ul> <li>Easy to get under this tab style</li> <li>Can get a good grip on can</li> </ul>	• Small radius of can hard to get tools in	
Large Can With Round Tab	• Easy to pull lid back	<ul><li>Hard to get under tab</li><li>Tab is small and hard to pull</li></ul>	
Small Can With Round Tab	• Easy to pull back lid	<ul> <li>Hard to grip can with opposite hand</li> <li>Tab is small and hard to pull</li> </ul>	

Table 3.9:	Verbal	feedback	summary
------------	--------	----------	---------



### 3.7 Broken tabs

One measure observed during the experiment that was not initially identified was the occurrence of broken tabs. The locking can opener was responsible for breaking the tab off five different cans. The tabs broke off from all can styles and in both groups. No other opening style broke tabs preventing the can from opening.



# Chapter 4: Discussion

The purpose of this study was to develop an improved method for opening pop-top cans to make them more accessible to the aging population. Furthermore, it was proposed that the elderly would prefer devices that give a mechanical advantage over the standard ring pull because of reductions in muscles exertion, wrist angle, and pain experienced. Finally, in comparing younger and older individuals, it is believed that preference of opening style would differ based on convenience rather than reducing discomfort. The first objective was disproved, but the results showed trends supporting the second and third objectives and will be discussed further in this chapter.

### 4.1 Overall opening performance

The results of the overall opening performance showed that the experimentally-designed mechanical opener was the least-preferred method among the participants. Not only did it underperform in the three main correlated variables, it also was responsible for breaking the tab off the can on five different trials preventing them from being opened. The J-popper was overall the most preferred opening method. The subjective preference is supported by the objective data. The J-popper had the lowest mean measure of pain, shortest average time, and highest average extension value. However, this increased extension value is only valid for a small range. If the extension were to increase to higher percentage it is believed to have a negative effect on performance as discussed in the introduction. Furthermore, the mechanical advantage of the J-Popper was seen in the level of muscle exertion of the extensor digitorum contributing to the subjective preference.

### 4.2 Overall correlation of objective and subjective data

The many variables measured in this study revealed three main measurements that influenced participants' preference in opening style. First, the time it takes to open a package plays a major role in what a consumer is willing to endure in product packaging. In young participants especially, the amount of time it took to open the can was a deciding factor in the



preferred opening method. While young individuals experienced greater pain when opening a can without an opening device, they preferred the use of the standard pop-top because of the convenience it provided. While the J-popper took less time in practice, it would require extra steps to find the opener and use it. Many individuals, young and old, felt the extra steps were not necessary. As a result, the standard opening style received more first place votes for young participants, while older individuals preferred the mechanical advantage of the J-popper.

The second correlated variable was the overall pain experienced when opening a can. While this is a subjective measure, it had a strong statistical correlation to all of the other subjective measures as well as the average extension of the hand and wrist. Analysis of pain between younger and older participants revealed that there was no statistical difference between the two groups regarding pain. This implies that perception of pain is an individual experience regardless of age. Pain played an overall role in determining which opening method was preferred. The J-popper had the lowest overall mean pain level. This is because of the mechanical advantage that the device gives the user. It provides increased leverage as well as reduces pain in the fingers by getting under the tab initially to break the seal around the can.

The most interesting of the correlated measures was the correlation between average wrist extension and the ranked preference measures. This could best be explained by the negative correlations between average extension and pain. When there is a smaller wrist movement, it can correspond to increased movement and use of the fingers. As a result, there is an increase in pain experienced in the fingers from the greater work demand. The objective of the experimental opening device was to transfer movement more to the arm then wrist. However, when transferring to those muscles the performance lowered with the locking can opener. Based on this data, it appears that the optimal muscles for opening cans are those of the wrist, which the J-popper utilizes best.

### 4.3 Trial specific correlation analysis

The most interesting outcome of the trial specific analysis is that there is not one single objective measure that relates to the type of pop top can that individuals prefer. However,



there are still some measurables that play an important role and aid in the design of further consumer packaging. The lack of correlations in the use of the locking can opener on the short can and small tab showed that another factor must be present in determining what the people prefer. The verbal feedback points to the more complex design making it harder to figure out effectively how to use the opener.

The very few correlation pairs that were found in both the older and younger group help support the claim that the demands of the two groups differ. This shows that the two age groups have different objective measures that effect their subjective preference and use of the tabs. This information supports the claim that the two groups would have different preferences in opener style because of the differences in the factors that affect their fondness.

When looking at only the young group, the correlation between the average MVC in the extensor digitorum and pain shows that the more they use that muscle group the more pain people experienced. Based on muscle function, this shows that the harder the muscle has to work for pulling back the wrist individual experienced more pain. On the contrary, there was a negative correlation between an opener's ease of use and the time it took to open the can. If the opener took longer to open the can then other methods, individuals felt that it was less useful for them to use to open the can. This simple finding shows that one of the primarily considerations when designing an opening device is to have it improve the time required for opening.

The older group had very few shared correlations between opening styles or can designs. One possible explanation for this could lie in past research about how the elderly respond to problems in consumer products. As summarized in a research paper by Bearden, the elderly are less likely to complain about their dissatisfaction with consumer product.<sup>21</sup> Therefore, the lack of definitive results may stem from their reluctance to complain about the products they are using. The opposite correlations show that depending on the can style, the use of the flexor carpi radialis muscle groups can have opposite effects on peoples preference.



#### 4.4 Comparison of younger and older participant group preferences

When looking at the preference of opening style, it is evident that younger participants preferred using no opening device. On the contrary, the older subject group preferred the Jpopper. The main cause of this is the difference in demands between the two groups. The younger group had a lower average opening time than the older group. Based on this knowledge and the verbal feedback provided, the younger group preferred no opener because of the increased level of convenience. While the j-popper had a lower overall time, it was not enough of an advantage to justify the time required to get the tool in the kitchen. In addition, the younger group experienced a lower overall level of exertion in their muscles when opening cans. This lower exertion shows that the mechanical advantage of the J-Popper is not as beneficial. The stronger muscles in the arm and wrist allow for lower percentages of exertion in the young and do not have the same need for a mechanical advantage of the J-Popper as the older group does. The pain rankings obtained at the end of the study further prove this point. The group indicated that no opener was the most painful opening method but still preferred it to any opening device. Therefore, the advantages of the J-Popper are not as prominent in the younger group. Because there is less of a physical advantage, many younger individuals would rather endure the extra pain of not using an opener to avoid the extra steps required to obtain a device.



# Chapter 5: Conclusion

The device created by the authors attempted to reduce the wrist movement when opening and muscle exertion of the smaller hand muscles. However, the device lacked intuitive usability and created more of a hindrance than help in opening the cans. As hypothesized, the mechanical advantage created by the J-popper greatly reduced discomfort as well as muscle exertion resulting in a preference amongst older participants. Notably, there was a difference between the older and younger population in preference of opening method. The physical advantages of younger bodies did not benefit from the J-Popper as much as older individuals. Therefore, different objective measures contributed to the preference of opening method in each group. While assistive devices do reduce the amount of discomfort, there is a reduction in convenience because of the added step of getting the necessary tool. Overall, the younger population is willing to tolerate the added stress of not using an opener for the ease of a poptop can. The older population utilizes different opening devices that are commercially available or around the kitchen, to overcome the physical disadvantage brought on by aging.

### 5.1 Limitations

The biggest limitation in the research was finding participants who met the age requirements, who were willing to endure the time required for opening the cans, and did not have preexisting musculoskeletal conditions. As a result, a repeatable trial for each subject could not be performed.

### 5.2 Future work

Studying the reactive forces required in the fixture hand would be a major area of interest for future work. In addition, a comparative study between pop-top and traditional cans would help to identify if any advantage exists beyond the convenience of pop-top cans. Finally, further studies that can relate objective laboratory data to the subjective perceptions that consumers have toward products would allow for an improved understanding of accessibility in consumer packaging.



### Chapter 6:

### References

- <sup>1</sup> Niebel, Benjamin W., and Andris Freivalds. *Niebel's Methods, Standards, and Work Design*. 12th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Companies, 2009. Print.
- <sup>2</sup> Chapman, William P., and Chester M. Jones. "Variations In Cutaneous And Visceral Pain Sensitivity In Normal Subjects 1." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 23.1 (1944): 81-91. Science Direct. Web.
- <sup>3</sup> Viitasalo, J. T., P. Era, A.-L. Leskinen, and E. Heikkinen. "Muscular Strength Profiles and Anthropometry in Random Samples of Men Aged 31–35, 51–55 and 71–75 Years." *Ergonomics* 28.11 (1985): 1563-574. Print.
- <sup>4</sup> McComas, Alan J. Skeletal Muscle: Form and Function. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 1996. Print.
- <sup>5</sup> Li, Z. "The Influence of Wrist Position on Individual Finger Forces during Forceful Grip." *The Journal of Hand Surgery* 27.5 (2002): 886-96. *Elsevier*. Web.
- <sup>6</sup> Chung, Meng-Jung, and Mao-Jiun J. Wang. "The Effect of Age and Gender on Joint Range of Motion of Worker Population in Taiwan." *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics* 39.4 (2009): 596-600. *Elsevier*. Web.
- <sup>7</sup> Lautenbacher, Stefan, Miriam Kunz, Peter Strate, Jesper Nielsen, and Lars Arendt-Nielsen.
   "Age Effects on Pain Thresholds, Temporal Summation and Spatial Summation of Heat and Pressure Pain." *Pain* 115.3 (2005): 410-18. *Elsevier*. Web.
- <sup>8</sup> Helme, R. "Methodologic Factors Which Contribute to Variations in Experimental Pain Threshold Reported for Older People." *Neuroscience Letters* 361.1-3 (2004): 144-46. *Elsevier*. Web.



- <sup>9</sup> Robertson, Gordon L. Food Packaging: Principles and Practice. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis/CRC, 2006. Print.
- <sup>10</sup> Coles, Richard. *Food Packaging Technology*. Boca Raton, FL: Blackwell, 2003. Print.
- <sup>11</sup> Duizer, L. M., T. Robertson, and J. Han. "Requirements for Packaging from an Ageing Consumer's Perspective." *Packaging Technology and Science* 22.4 (2009): 187-97. *Wiley Online Library*. Web. 25 Apr. 2011. <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu:2048/doi/10.1002/pts.834/pdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com.proxy.lib.iastate.edu:2048/doi/10.1002/pts.834/pdf</a>>.
- <sup>12</sup> Berns, T. "The Handling of Consumer Packaging." *Applied Ergonomics* 12.3 (1981): 153-61. *Elsevier*. Web.

<sup>13</sup> See 10

- <sup>14</sup> Oh, S., and R. Radwin. "Pistol Grip Power Tool Handle and Trigger Size Effect on Grip Exertions and Operator Preference." *Human Factors* 35.3 (1993): 551-69. *Sage*. Web.
- <sup>15</sup> Ayoub, M. M., and P. Lo Presti. "The Determination of an Optimum Size Cylindrical Handle by Use of Electromyography." *Ergonomics* 14.4 (1971): 509-18. *Elsevier*. Web.
- <sup>16</sup> Deuschl, Günther, Jan Raethjen, Helge Hellriegel, and Rodger Elble. "Treatment of Patients with Essential Tremor." *The Lancet Neurology* 10.2 (2011): 148-61. *Elsevier*. Web.
- <sup>17</sup> Quick, N.E., J.C. Gillette, R. Shapiro, G.L. Adrales, D. Gerlach, and A.E. Park. "The Effect of Using Laparoscopic Instruments on Muscle Activation Patterns during Minimally Invasive Surgical Training Procedures." *Surgical Endoscopy* 17.3 (2003): 462-65. *Springer-Verlag*. Web.
- <sup>18</sup> Huesler, Erhard J., Marc A. Maier, and Marie-Claude Hepp-Reymond. "EMG Activation Patterns during Force Production in Precision Grip. III. Synchronisation of Single



Motor Units." *Experimental Brain Research* 134.4 (2000): 441-55. *Springer-Verlag*. Web.

- <sup>19</sup> Flynn, Leisa R., and Ronald E. Goldsmith. "A Short, Reliable Measure of Subjective Knowledge." *Journal of Buisness Research* 46.1 (1999): 57-66. *Elsevier*. Web.
- <sup>20</sup> Debi, Ronen, Amit Mor, Ganit Segal, Ofer Segal, Gabriel Agar, Eytan Debbi, Nahum Halperin, Amir Haim, and Avi Elbaz. "Correlation between Single Limb Support Phase and Self-evaluation Questionnaires in Knee Osteoarthritis Populations." *Disability and Rehabilitation* 33.13-14 (2011): 1103-109. *Informa*. Web.
- <sup>21</sup> Bearden, William O. "Profiling Consumers Who Register Complaints Against Auto Repair Services." *Journal of Consumer Affairs* 17.2 (1983): 315-35. *ProQuest.* Web.

